IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

K&P HOMES, A SERIS LLC OF DEK HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Appellant,

VS.

CHRISTIANA TRUST, A DIVISION OF WILMINGTON SAVINGS FUND SOCIETY, FSB NOT IN ITS INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY BUT AS TRUSTEE OF ARLP TRUST 3,

Respondent.

SUP. CT. CASE NO. 69966
Electronically Filed
(Certified Question from 126 2016) 11:34 a.m.
States District Court for a cip of surfemen
Nevada, Case No. 2:15 level of Supreme Court
VCF)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

The Wright Law Group, PC 2340 Paseo Del Prado, Suite D-305 Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 T: (702) 405-0001 • F: (702) 405-8454

I.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
II.	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 6
III.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS 8
IV.	ARGUMENT 9
A.	Background Relative to Certified Question 9
	1. This is an issued of First Impression
	2. There are Conflicting Decisions
	3. The Issue has Broad Application
В.	SFR Applies To The Law at Issue, a Statute enacted in 1991, and All Subsequent Transactions Subject to Tat Law
C.	This Court Has Already Rejected Christiana's Prospective Arguments
D.	Reasonable Lenders Did Not Misunderstand The Statute
E.	SFR Did Not Determine the Recording of the CC&R's Created the HOA's Lien, the Statute Does
V.	CONCLUSION
CER'	TIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES:
Allen v. State Board of Elections 393 U.S. 544 (1969)
Arizonans for Official English v. Arizona, 520 U.S. 43 (1997)1
Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins., Co., 867 P.2d 4058 (Nev. 1994)
Chafffee v. Roger., 311 F.Supp. 2d 962 (D.Nev. 2004)
Chevron Oil, Co., v. Huson 404 U.S. 97 (1971)
Crocket & Myers, Ltd., v. Napier, Fitzgerald & Kierby, LLP, 401 F.Supp. 2d 1120 (D. Nev. 2005)
Danforth v. Minnesota, 552 U.S. 264 (2008)
Diaz v. Ferne, 120 Nev. 70 (2004)
Hanover Shoe v. United Shoe Mech. Corp., 392 U.S. 481(1968)14
Life Ins. Co. of North America v. Wollett, 766 P.2d 893 (Nev. 1988)
Limbwood Court Trust v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 979 F.Supp. 2d 1142 (D. Nev. 2013)
Lopez v. Corral, 2010 Nev. LEXIX 69
Moralez-Izquerdo v. Dept. of Homeland Security, 600 F.3d 1076 (9 th Cir. 2010)
Rivera v. Philip Morris, Inc.,

209 P.3d 271 (Nev. 2009)
Rivers v. Roadway Express, 411 U.S. 298 (1994)
SFR Investments Pool I, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 334 P.3d 408 (Nev. 2014) . 2, 4, 5, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 19, 20, 22, 24, 25, 27, 28
Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n Inc., v. New York Community Bancorp, Inc., 366 P.3d 1105 (Nev. 2016)
State Dept. of Bus. Indus. v. Nev Ass's Servs, Inc., 294 P.3d 1223
<i>U.S. Bank, N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool I, LLC</i> , 3: 15 cv 00241-RCJ-WGC (2015 U.S Dist. LEXIS 112807)
Volvo Cars of North America, Inc., v. Ricci, 137 P.3d 1161 (Nev. 2006)
STATUTES:
NRS 116.615
NRS 116.3116
NRS 116.3116(2) 9, 14,27
NRS 116.31164
COURT RULES:
NR Δ P 5

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court may answer questions of law certified to it by a United States District Court upon the request of the certifying court. Crocket & Myers, Ltd. v. Napier, Fitzgerald & Kierby, LLP, 401 F. Supp.2d 1120, 1128 (D. Nev. 2005) Questions of law are certified to the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 5 and states in relevant part:

- (a) **Power to Answer.** The Supreme Court may answer questions of law certified to it by the Supreme Court of the United States, a Court of Appeals of the United States or of the District of Columbia, a United States District Court, or a United States Bankruptcy Court when requested by the certifying courts, if there are involved in any proceeding before those courts questions of law of this state which may be determinative of the cause then pending in the certifying court and as to which it appears to the certifying court there is no controlling precedent in the decisions of the Supreme Court of this state.
- (b) Method of Invoking. This Rule may be invoked by an order of any of the courts referred to in Rule 5(a) upon the court's own motion or upon the motion of any party to the cause.

The United States Supreme Court has recognized the wisdom of certification by stating certification of "novel or unsettled questions of state law for authoritative answers by a State's highest court . . . may save time, energy, and resources and help build a cooperative judicial federalism." <u>Arizonans for Official English v. Arizona</u>, 520 U.S. 43, 77 (1997). Questions regarding the interpretation of unresolved issues of state law are most appropriate for certification. <u>Rivera v. Philip Morris, Inc.</u>, 209 P.3d 271 (Nev. 2009) (appropriate for federal district court to certify question of

whether Nevada law recognizes a heeding presumption in strict products liability failure-to-warn cases); Chaffee v. Roger, 311 F.Supp.2d 962 (D.Nev. 2004) (certifying question to Nevada Supreme Court as to the definitions of the terms "threat" and "intimidate" under NRS 199.300(1)(b); Life Ins. Co. of North America v. Wollett, 766 P.2d 893 (Nev. 1988) (appropriate for federal district court to certify question of whether state statute barring beneficiaries convicted of murder from recovering life policy benefits was exclusive basis under Nevada law for denying entitlement to insurance proceeds). Furthermore, certifying a question for law to the Supreme Court of Nevada is proper if one of the possible answers will conclude the federal case, or if the answer may resolve one of the pending claims, if not the entire case. Volvo Cars of North America, Inc., v. Ricci, 137 P.3d 1161, 1164 (Nev. 2006).

It has been long held that the district court's conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. <u>Lopez v. Corral</u>, 2010 Nevada LEXIS 69 at 5. Further, "when there is no dispute of fact, a contract's interpretation is a legal question subject to de novo review." <u>Diaz v. Ferne</u>, 120 Nev. 70, 73 (2004).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(7) as this is a question of law certified by the Federal District Court for the

District of Nevada. The certification was accepted by the Supreme Court via its order filed on April 8, 2016.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue presented to the Court for review is whether or not the Nevada Supreme Court's holding in <u>SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.</u>, 334 P.3d 408 (Nev. 2014) that foreclosures under NRS 116.3116 extinguish first security interests applies retroactively to foreclosures occurring prior to the date of that decision.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises from the dismissal of a Counterclaim for Quiet Title initiated by Appellant K & P HOMES, LLC (hereinafter "K & P"). On May 31, 2013, K & P purchased certain real property commonly known as 7461Glimmering Sun Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 889178, APN # 176-27-312-159 (hereinafter referred to as the "Property") at a properly noticed foreclosure sale in accordance with NRS 116.3116 through 11.31168, inclusive as reflected in the Foreclosure Deed conveying the Property to K&P and recorded on June 4, 2013 with the Clark County Recorder's Office in Book/Instrument Number 20130604:0000600.

Plaintiff Christiana Trust, A Division of Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, ("Christiana") filed a Complaint for Quiet Title and Declaratory Relief on August 21, 2015, naming K&P as the defendant.

On September 9, 2015, K&P filed an Answer to Complaint and Counterclaims against Christiana and the former owner, Rita Wiegand, requesting quiet title and declaratory relief.

On October 5, 2015 Christiana filed a Motion to Dismiss claiming, among other things, that this Court's decision in <u>SFR Investment Pool I, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.</u>, 334 P.3d 408 (Nev. 2014) should not be applied retroactively.

On October 13, 2015 K&P filed an Opposition to Christiana's Motion to Dismiss and also filed a Countermotion for Summary Judgment.

On November 9, 2015, the Court issued its Order granting Christiana Trust's Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim on the basis that this Court's decision in <u>SFR</u> is to only be applied prospectively.

In reaching its conclusion, the federal court determined that in <u>SFR</u> this Court did not address the issue of retroactive application because the matter was determined on different grounds and that this Court assumed that its ruling would be applied retroactively. Therefore, the federal court conducted an analysis under <u>Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) and <u>Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) and <u>Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) and <u>Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) and <u>Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) and <u>Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) and <u>Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) and <u>Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) and <u>Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) and <u>Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) and <u>Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) and <u>Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson</u>

<u>Cas. Ins. Co.</u>, 867 P.2d 405 (Nev. 1994) and concluded that under the federal common law of equity it would not be fair to apply <u>SFR</u> retroactively.

On November 20, 2015, K&P submitted a Motion for Reconsideration on the grounds that this Court was presented with arguments regarding the prospective versus retroactive application of <u>SFR</u> and rejected the arguments for only the prospective application.

On December 3, 2015, the federal court denied K&P's Motion for Reconsideration stating:

The Court dismissed the Counterclaim under Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) (recognizing limitations on the retroactive application of judicial rulings as a matter of common law equity), abrogated in part by Harper v. Va. Dep't of Taxation, 509 U.S. 86 (1993) (holding that when the Supreme Court interprets federal laws, inferior courts should as a default apply teat interpretation retroactively:. The Court ruled that in the present case, the Huson factors weighed against the retroactive application of SFR Investments Pool I, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 334 P.3d 408 (Nev. 2014). The Court noted that Huson was a federal common law rule, but the Nevada Supreme Court did not need to address the federal due process issue beyond the scope of Huson. See Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 867 P.2d 405 (Nev. 1994). A closer look, however, showed both that SFR Investments Pool I was silent on retroactivity and that the Nevada Supreme Court approved the *Huson* rule as a general matter. The Court ruled that SFR Investments Pool I did not apply retroactively under the *Huson* rule, as approved in *Breithaupt*..

The federal court further stated that the <u>SFR</u> opinion did not address retroactivity, however, under either the <u>Huson/Breithaupt</u> line of cases or otherwise, and argument under that line of cases were made only in amici briefs, not in the opening or answering briefs, which means that

the issue was waived by both sides, and the federal court had discretion to address it *sua sponte*. The federal court determined that this Court's silence on the issue in <u>SFR</u> indicates that is did not exercise that discretion and for whatever the reasons, the issue (of retroactive application) was not litigated.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In January 2007, the Tuscalante Homeowners Association (the "HOA") recorded its Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions with the office of the Clark County Recorder, establishing its lien rights in accordance with Chapter 116 of Nevada Revised Statutes.

In July 2007, Rita Wiegand ("Wiegand") acquired the property through a Grant Bargain Sale Deed. The property was financed through Universal Home Mortgage Company, LLC., who recorded a first deed of trust with the Clark County Recorder's office. The deed of trust was assigned to BAC Home Loan Servicing and U.S. Bank, N.A ("U.S. Bank"), and ultimately assigned to Christiana on January 30, 2014.¹

¹The assignment to Christiana occurred seven months <u>after</u> the property was sold at the foreclosure sale. At the time of the foreclosure sale the deed of trust was held by U.S. Bank, N.A., which is not a party to this case and, according to Christiana's Notice of Interested Parties has no interest in this case.

Wiegand became delinquent in the payment of the Association assessments and on July 31, 2012, the HOA, through Nevada Association Services, Inc. ("NAS"), recorded a Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien with the Clark County Recorder.

Wiegand failed to pay the HOA's assessment lien and on January 30, 2013, the HOA recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Real Property to Satisfy Delinquent Assessment Lien with the Clark County Recorder. The Notice of Default was mailed via certified mail to both Wiegand and U.S. Bank, the then holder of the deed of trust.

Neither Wiegand nor any other person paid the Association's lien and on May 7, 2013, the Association recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale with the Clark County Recorder. The Notice of Sale was mailed to both Wiegand and U.S. Bank via certified mail.

The Notice of Sale was published for three consecutive weeks in the Nevada Legal News. It was also posted on the Property and three of the most public places in Clark County, Nevada, as well as three of the most public places in the Las Vegas, Nevada.

Again, neither Wiegand nor any other person paid the HOA's assessment lien.

Therefore, the Property was sold at a foreclosure auction on May 31, 2013.

At the foreclosure auction held on May 31, 2013, K&P was the highest bidder and purchased the Property for Forty Thousand dollars (\$40,000). The HOA, through its agent NAS, provided K&P with a Foreclosure Deed containing all the recitals required under NRS 116.31164, which constitutes "conclusive proof" that the Property passed to K&P free of any claims by Wiegand or any other persons, including U.S. Bank or Christiana.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The single argument in this case is whether or not this Court's decision in SFR applies to HOA foreclosures that occurred prior to the date of that decision. Christiana will argue that SFR should be applied prospectively only, for it establishes a new principle of law by overruling clear past precedent on which litigants may have relied and by deciding an issue of first impression whose resolution was not clearly foreshadowed. Christiana argues that the SFR decision was not clearly foreshadowed as no court prior to 2012 had ever addressed this issues. Last, Christiana argues that this Court's "faulty" interpretation of NRS Chapter 116 radically changed the way participants in this area of law conducted business for more than 20 years, because reasonable lenders would not have interpreted NRS 116.3116 as extinguishing their Deed of Trust.²

²See Christiana's Motion to Dismiss at 4:21-23

K&P submits that <u>SFR</u> is to be applied retrospectively as well as prospectively because SFR did not create new law. It merely interpreted a statute that has been in effect since 1991. This Court was presented with identical arguments in the Amici Briefs filed in support of U.S. Bank's Motion for Rehearing in <u>SFR</u> and rejected them. Further, reasonable lenders did not misunderstand the statute, they chose to interpret it in a manner that suited their dialogue when arguing with HOA's. Last, <u>SFR</u> did not determine that recording of the CC&Rs created the HOA super priority lien, the statute does.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Background Relative to Certified Question:

The case in question, <u>SFR Investment Pool I, LLC v. US Bank, N.A.</u>, 334 P.3d 408, was decided by this Court on September 18, 2014. Virtually every case before the United States District Court for the District of Nevada as well as the Nevada State District Courts regarding the subject of HOA foreclosures involves a lien that was foreclosed by a Homeowners Association as a result of the property owner defaulting on the payment of monthly Association dues and assessments. In every one of those cases the property was secured by a Deed of Trust in favor of a financial institution. The <u>SFR</u> case presented the question of whether or not a Homeowners Association's lien under NRS 116.3116(2) is a true priority lien such that its

foreclosure extinguishes a first deed of trust on the property and if so, whether it can be foreclosed nonjudicially. This Court answered both questions in the affirmative. This Court also addressed arguments regarding the content of notices provided to US Bank and whether or not a mortgage savings clause contained within the Association's declaration of CC&Rs was valid. This Court ruled that since the notice of default and notice of sale were provided to other interested parties and not just the lender that the notices were not required to breakdown the amount of super priority lien. This Court also ruled that a mortgage savings clause in the CC&Rs violated NRS 116.1104.

1. This an issue of first impression with no controlling precedent.

This issue is clearly an issue of first impression in Nevada. While there may be a myriad of cases before the Federal and State Courts Nevada, there is yet to be any precedential decision from any appellate authority on the issue of whether <u>SFR</u> should not be applied retroactively.

2. There are conflicting decisions.

This issue is contested and there are conflicting decisions between various courts in Nevada. In this case, the federal court determined that <u>SFR</u> is to be applied prospectively only. However, there are other cases where trial level courts have determined that <u>SFR</u> applies retrospectively. In at least two other federal cases Judge

Susan Johnson rejected the bank's argument for prospective application only. In case no. A-15-7122683 and case no. A-13-693826 Judge Johnson was presented with the same facts as this case. Judge Johnson applied the holdings in Morales-Izquerdo v. Department of Homeland Security, 600 F.3d 1076, 1087-1088 (9th Cir. 2010) and Rivers v. Roadway Express, 511 U.S. 298 (1994) which stated that when a court interprets a statute, "it is explaining its understanding of what the statute has meant continuously since the date when it became law." Morales-Izaquierdo, 600 F.2d at 1088, quoting Rivers, 511 U.S. at 313 n.12. As a consequence, judicial interpretations are given "[f]ull retroactive effect[.] Morales-Izaquerdo, 600 F.3d at 1088.

Because this Court was interpreting NRS 116. 3116, et seq., the same rules apply. This Court was explaining what the statute has meant since it became law in 1991.

3. The issue has broad application.

The resolution of this issue will have an immense impact on the Nevada homeowners' association foreclosure market and will be applied to all foreclosures and litigation involving said foreclosures across Nevada. This Court has the final authority to interpret issues of Nevada law. <u>Danforth v. Minnesota</u>, 552 U.S. 264, 291-92 (2008). The issue presented here is clearly important to Nevada's public

policy relating to homeowners associations and those persons who purchased properties at foreclosure sales with the belief that the first deed of trust was extinguished by the HOA foreclosure. Here, a ruling that <u>SFR</u> does not apply to those foreclosures occurring prior to September 18, 2014 would greatly impact the rights of those purchasers.

In addition, adopting Christiana' argument would make the parties who were on the side of the arguments that <u>SFR</u> agreed with (the winners) now losers and those parties that were on the losing side of the argument would become winners because, regardless of the position they took or how they interpreted the statute, the decision of this Court will not apply to them if the HOA foreclosure occurred prior to September 18, 2014.

In Shadow Wood Homeowners Association, Inc. v. New York Community Bancorp, Inc., 366 P.3d 1105 (Nev. 2016) this Court stated:

Where the complaining party has access to all the facts surrounding the questioned transaction and merely makes a mistake as to the legal consequences of his act, equity should normally not interfere, especially where the rights of third parties might be prejudiced thereby.

The fact that banks misinterpreted NRS 116.3116 is not a basis for upsetting every validly conducted HOA foreclosure that occurred prior to <u>SFR</u>.

In a similar HOA foreclosure involving the extinguishment of a deed of trust held by J.P Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., Case No. A-13-679365-C, Judge Douglas E.

Smith stated, "A persons misinterpretation of the law does not make the consequences unfair, especially with a sophisticated party such as Chase." Yet, that is what Christiana argues for in this instance. The bank's want to be relieved of the consequences of their misinterpretation of the law.

B. <u>SFR Applies to the Law at Issue, a statute enacted in 1991, and all subsequent transactions subject to that law:</u>

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