I. STATEMENT OF CERTIFIED QUESTION 

The following question was certified to this Court: 

Does the rule of SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 334 P.3d 

408 (Nev. 2014) that foreclosures under NRS 116.3116 extinguish first security 

interests apply retroactively to foreclosures occurring prior to the date of that 

decision? 

 



 

1 of 17 

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Christiana’s Answering Brief demonstrated through several avenues that this 

Court should find that SFR does not apply retroactively to sales taking place prior 

to September 18, 2014, because it decided a new principle of law on an issue of 

first impression whose resolution was not clearly foreshadowed, overruled past 

precedent upon which litigants relied, and interpreted the Statute in a manner that 

was contrary to both legislative intent and industry interpretation. The Court 

granted the late application of the Community Association Institute (“CAI”), the 

self-described organization “to provide effective and objective guidance for the 

creation and operation of condominiums, cooperatives, and homeowner 

associations”1 to file an amicus curiae brief.  This brief is Christiana’s response to 

that amicus brief. 

CAI’s argument for retroactive application of SFR can be reduced to the 

following: an association’s assessment lien under NRS 116.3116 (the “Statute”) is 

a “true lien” superior in all regards to the first secured interest, and it is necessary 

to apply SFR retroactively to permit extinguishment of the first secured interest to 

protect the associations’ interests. The first point ignores over two decades of 

application of the Statute where all lenders, legislators, HOAs and their collection 

agents, foreclosure trustees and attorneys, investors and most state and federal 

                                                 
1 CAI Amicus Curiae (“CAI Br.”), p. 2. 
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district court judges – all the “players in the industry” – treated the HOA lien as a 

payment priority not capable of extinguishing a first deed of trust. The second 

point ignores the fact that retroactive application of SFR and extinguishment of the 

first secured interests by the associations’ non-judicial sales are not necessary as 

the “payment priority lien” permitted the associations to collect their nine-month 

super-priority, which is all the Nevada Legislature intended to protect.  CAI fails to 

overcome the weight of the evidence Christina provided showing that the three 

factors set forth in Chevron Oil v. Huson, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) (“Chevron”), are met 

because SFR announced a new principle of law that was not clearly foreshadowed, 

overruled past precedent upon which litigants relied, did not further the purpose of 

the Statute, was inherently unfair considering the industry practice to the contrary 

amongst all parties involved, and has produced substantial inequitable results. 

Despite CAI’s Brief, SFR should be applied prospectively only to HOA sales 

occurring after it was decided. 

III. ARGUMENT 

A. RETROACTIVE APPLICATION OF SFR FINDS NO 
SUPPORT IN CASES FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS 
BECAUSE THEIR STATUTORY SCHEMES DIFFER IN 
MATERIAL WAYS.  

CAI observes, “Twenty-three jurisdictions have adopted a lien priority 

statute….” CAI Br. at 5-6 (emphasis added). The implication appears to be that the 

fact that these jurisdictions may have “a lien priority statute” is a basis to conclude 
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that “SFR did not decide an issue of first impression whose resolution was not 

clearly foreshadowed by centuries of lien priority case law and decades’ 

experience with the statutory lien priority of the uniform acts.” CAI Br. at 6. CAI’s 

observation is misleading and its conclusion, untenable.  

CAI relies on a summary of super lien statutes based on the “National 

Matrix of Association ‘Super-priority’ Lien Legislation,” by Hugh Lewis (the 

“Matrix”) for the inference that, “SFR was not an issue of first impression whose 

resolution was not clearly foreshadowed.”2 All data CAI relies on came from the 

Matrix, but the “data” in the study cannot be taken as reliable. The Matrix 

fails to recognize the differences between the Uniform Condominium Act (“UCA”) 

and Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (“UCIOA”) States3, and there are 

several instances where the characterizations of the statutes are simply wrong. For 

example, the Matrix falsely states that the super lien of the following states 

“trumps” a first mortgage, when the statutes actually provide for a payment priority 

and not extinguishment: Missouri (UCIOA, 2013), Minnesota, Tennessee (UCA, 

2015-16), Pennsylvania, Florida, Maryland, and Hawaii.4  

                                                 
2 See footnote 6, CAI’s Br. at 6, referring to page 32 of the Community 
Association Fact Book 2014, which cites the Matrix, found at 
http://www.cairf.org/research/factbook/lien_priority_matrix.pdf. 
3 Nevada adopted the UCIOA (1982) in 1991 pursuant to Assembly Bill 221. See 
also, SFR, 334 P.3d at 410. 
4 See “Compilation of Super-priority Lien Statutes,” ADD2292-2296. 
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CAI argues that “[p]rior to SFR, in every state in which this issue [i.e., 

whether the association’s lien is a “true” lien] has been litigated, the courts have 

ruled – consistent with common law precedent – that the association’s foreclosure 

of its priority lien extinguished all subordinate liens, and none held to the 

contrary.” CAI Br. at 8 (emphasis added). CAI overlooked contrary decisions by 

courts in Alaska, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Minnesota, Vermont and West 

Virginia – the only UCIOA States besides Nevada. As discussed in Christiana’s 

Answering Brief, pp. 14-16, SFR ran contrary to statutes and court decisions in 

these UCIOA States, which have concluded that a non-judicial HOA foreclosure 

sale cannot eliminate the senior deed of trust.  Consistent with the laws of those 

other UCIOA jurisdictions, the SFR Dissent argued that the plain language of NRS 

116.3116(2) “mandates that a civil judicial foreclosure complaint be filed in order 

[for an HOA sale] to extinguish a first deed of trust.” 334 P.3d at 419.    

CAI cites no cases from UCIOA jurisdictions, and the three it does cite are 

all sufficiently distinguished in the Answering Brief, pp. 15-16 – two cases decided 

prior to SFR (one three weeks before SFR5 and the other from a judicial-

                                                 
5 Chase Plaza Condo. Ass’n, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 98 A.3d 166 
(D.C. Aug. 28, 2014). The District of Columbia has a “standalone statute,” as it did 
not adopt either UCIOA or UCA. 
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foreclosure-only, UCA State),6 and one7 decided over a year after SFR, in another 

UCA State.8 These cases can hardly be taken as “clearly foreshadowing” the SFR 

result. 

The 15 non-UCIOA jurisdictions that CAI cites as “lien priority” have 

adopted the UCA or  neither uniform act. Taken as a whole, these States’ statutes 

are so disparate that they cannot “clearly foreshadow” the result in SFR. For 

example, for the 2013 and 2014 versions of the statutes, among UCA States, 

Pennsylvania and Tennessee9 provide for payment priority only, as do non-

UCA/non-UCIOA States, Florida, Maryland and Hawaii.  And the UCA States 

                                                 
6 Summerhill Vill. Homeowners Ass’n v. Roughly, 289 P.3d 645, 649 (Wash. Ct. 
App. 2012).  
7 Twenty Eleven, LLC v. Botelho, et al., 127 A.3d 897 (R.I. 2015).   
8 The case is also distinguishable because the Rhode Island statutes, R.I. Gen. 
Laws § 34-36.1-3.16 (2013), expressly require enforcement of a super-priority lien 
by non-judicial foreclosure, and not “institution of an action”; they expressly 
require certified mailing of notice to “the defaulting unit owner…and the holder of 
the… deed of trust,” (§ 34-36.1-3.21(a)(2)), and not just the homeowner and the 
lienholders subordinate to the first deed of trust (NRS 116.31162 and NRS 
107.080(3) and (4)); and they expressly provide for redemption by the holder of 
the deed of trust (§ 34-36.1-3.21(c)), which was not added to the Nevada Statute 
until the 2015 amendments. The case also relied on other cases which expressly 
provided that extinguishment of a senior mortgage lien could only occur “[s]o long 
as timely and proper notice” is given to the lienholders, just as UCIOA § 3-116(r) 
(2008) and (2014) both provide, for non-judicial foreclosure states, “Foreclosure 
of a lien under this section does not terminate an interest that is subordinate to the 
lien to any extent unless the association provides notice of the foreclosure to the 
record holder of the subordinate interest.”  
9 In 2016, Tennessee amended its statutes to make clear that any assessment lien 
“shall be subject to any prior mortgage or deed of trust…and shall not extinguish 
the lien of such mortgage or deed of trust.” ADD2362-2366. 
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Missouri and Washington provided that non-judicial foreclosures did not 

extinguish first deeds of trust.10  In the post-SFR landscape, the only two 

jurisdictions which allowed non-judicial foreclosure to extinguish a first deed of 

trust were Nevada and District of Columbia. Reviewing lien priority statutes before 

SFR would have only confused the reader, not provided clarity.11  Whatever laws 

were in place for the UCA states and however their courts interpreted those statutes 

have no bearing on – and more particularly, do not “clearly foreshadow[]”12 – the 

SFR holdings that an association lien (1) has a “true priority” over the first secured 

interest (2) which can be extinguished by a non-judicial foreclosure sale, in a non-

UCA State.   

CAI acknowledges that the Court explicitly referred to SFR as a case of 

“first impression,” and even admits, that, until SFR, “there was not an explicit 

Nevada case establishing controlling precedent on the precise fact pattern with 

respect to the Nevada lien priority statute enacted in 1991.” CAI Br. at 6. Indeed, it 

was because there was no controlling precedent and because the “Nevada’s state 

and federal district courts [we]re divided on whether NRS 116.3116 establishes a 

                                                 
10 See Compilation of Super-priority Lien Statutes, ADD2292-2296, and copies of 
the referenced state statutes following it, ADD2299-2415. 
11 See “Compilation of Non-judicial Super-priority Lien Statutes,” attached hereto 
as ADD2297-2298. 
12 Chevron, 404 U.S. at 106-07. 
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true priority lien,”13 that this Court even had to act.  CAI’s arguments merely 

reinforce that SFR decided “an issue of first impression whose resolution was not 

clearly foreshadowed.”  Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 110 Nev. 31, 

867 P.2d 402, 405 (1994) (citing Chevron, 404 U.S. at 106-07). 

CAI’s discussion about the “common law optional-obligatory distinction” is 

really a misdirection that need not be considered by this Court.14  CAI Br. at 7-8. 

How CAI’s examples of a split lien in the context of mortgages should have been 

applied by the industry considering association assessment liens is not explained. 

In any case, the idea that an HOA’s lien could be split and separately enforced was 

not the basis for the Christiana’s argument against retroactive application, namely, 

that all the industry players treated the HOA’s super lien as enforceable as payment 

priority only. Further, CAI’s reference to equitable subrogation has no application 

to the lien priority between an HOA and a holder of a first deed of trust because 

neither satisfies the entire debt of the other with the intent to step into the shoes of 

priority of the other. Thus, it is unreasonable to conclude that this body of case law 

regarding unrelated statutes “clearly foreshadowed” the SFR holdings. 

SFR was not clearly foreshadowed because all the players in the industry 

                                                 
13 334 P.3d at 412. 
14 To summarize, CAI’s interpretation of Christiana’s basis for the first Chevron 
factor (overruling clear past precedent) is misguided because Christiana does not 
assert that liens cannot be split and separately enforced or that that idea was new or 
contrary to industry dealings prior to SFR. 
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treated the HOA lien as a payment priority not capable of extinguishing a first deed 

of trust.  

B. SFR TIPPED THE BALANCE OF INTERESTS IN FAVOR OF 
THE HOAS, REJECTING COMPETING INTERESTS AND 
POLICY CONCERNS. 

In Section B of its Brief, CAI makes the case that associations serve a 

critical role and that assessment revenue is a critical part of that role.  CAI Br. at 9-

11. That is not disputed. CAI quotes the Official Comments to UCIOA § 3-116 

(1982): “[T]he 6 months’ priority for the assessment lien strikes an equitable 

balance between the need to enforce collection of unpaid assessments and the 

obvious necessity for protecting the priority of the security interests of lenders.” 

CAI Br. at 10 (emphasis added).  Section B then proceeds, as did the Majority in 

SFR, to abandon that balance and advance only the interests of HOAs and, of even 

greater concern, those of investor/speculators like K&P. Abandoning that balance 

was contrary to the legislative history and UCIOA. 

It appears that CAI contends that, under the payment priority system where 

the first deed of trust could not be extinguished by an association foreclosure, 

“until a lender completes its foreclosure, it is not liable to pay assessments. Thus, 

as the association copes with loss of revenue, the lender gets a ‘free ride’ on the 

backs of homeowners who are paying the assessment….” CAI Br. at 10. This 

simplistic view fails to recognize the other side of the scale: the interests of the 
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lenders who face losses of hundreds of thousands of dollars per loan – compared to 

the association’s delay15 in recovering only hundreds or thousands of dollars16 – if 

SFR is applied retroactively. And it fails to recognize any interests of lenders who 

were prevented from foreclosing before working through consumer protection 

statutes and programs created by the federal government and the Nevada 

Legislature to keep Nevadans in their homes. See Christiana Br. at Section A.1.f. 

CAI also ignores the actual balance of interests struck by the Nevada 

Legislature when amending NRS Chapter 116 in 2009 and 2011 when it expressly 

recognized the delays and their impacts on associations. NRS 116.3116(2)(c) was 

amended by AB 204 in 2009.17  In its original form, AB 204 extended the period of 

priority from six months to two years, but this provision was reduced to nine 

months. Extending the priority period was “necessary…because foreclosures are 

now taking up to two years,” compared to about six months at the time the original 

law was written.18  This amendment balanced the interests of the lenders and the 

                                                 
15 “Delay” because the payment priority system did not prevent the associations 
from recovery, but only delayed recovery until the lenders complied with the 
consumer protection safeguards.  
16 In the instant case, Christiana faces losing security for a loan in the amount of 
$284,200.00, when the amount of the monthly assessments was $49.25 per month, 
which would have made the super-priority lien equal to $443.25. See Christiana 
Br. at 26-27.  
17 See 2009 Nev. Stat., p. 1207. 
18 See Hearing Minutes, AB 204, March 6, 2009, Assemblyperson Ellen Spiegel, p. 
34. (ADD:14). 
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associations as the Legislature deemed appropriate.  Moreover, as argued in 

Christiana’s Answering Brief, extending the priority period from six months to 

nine or 24 months of delinquent dues to protect the associations would have been 

unnecessary if the legislature intended or even foresaw that associations could 

simply foreclose on the entirety of their liens and extinguish the deed of trust 

before the senior deed of trust beneficiary foreclosed.  Christiana Br. at 22-23.  

CAI similarly ignores the fact that associations routinely had mortgage 

protection clauses in their CC&Rs which protected the lenders – or intentionally 

misled the lenders into believing their interests were protected – from 

extinguishment or subordination.19 And CAI also ignores the fact that many 

associations thwarted the efforts of lenders to pay even the super-priority portions 

of their liens. For example, some associations and the principal foreclosure trustees 

adamantly denied that there was a super-priority lien until the lender foreclosed; 

adamantly refused to provide any lien payoff quotes to lenders (citing the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act) or provided only a full payoff quote, rather than a quote 

for the super-priority portion; and then adamantly refused to accept the tender of 

the super-priority portion of the liens. Their complicity and financial incentive is 

obvious: if they accepted the super-priority payoff, the associations were limited to 

nine months recovery, and the trustees would collect no fees and costs, but if they 

                                                 
19 See Christiana Br., Section A.1.c.

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